GLASSER, United States District Judge:

This is a case in which two factions of the Chasidic
community of Crown Heights in Brooklyn are contending
for the control of a summer camp intended to provide a
healthy, spiritual and physical environment for its children,
in the country, far away from the heat of the city.

On May 6, 1997, the plaintiffs, a not-for-profit Corporation
and Yaakov Spritzer, filed a complaint against seven
named defendants consisting of 167 paragraphs extending
over 50 pages and asserting eleven claims as follows: I)
RICO, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1962(b); II) RICO, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d); III) RICO, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
1962(c); IV) RICO, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d); V)
Tortuous Interference with Contractual Relations; VI)
Fraud; VII) Conversion; VIII) Unfair Competition; IX)
Breach of Fiduciary Duty; X) Assault; XI) Intentional
damages to property. To characterize the complaint as
prolix, replete with hearsay and irrelevancies, would be
charitable. A motion has never been made, however,
addressing the sufficiency, or the propriety, of that
pleading. The failure to do so, it is clear, is due to the
occasional and fleeting appearance and withdrawal of
counsel for the defendants and their appearances pro se
when not represented. Although ostensibly appearing pro
se during the principal course of this litigation, the
countless submissions in the form of motions, letters and
assorted communications, bear the unmistakable imprint of
a faceless and nameless lawyer.

(From Judge Glassers final Verdict against Spritzer)
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Plaintiffs MACHNE MEMNACHEM, INC., and YAAKOV SPRITEER Dby
their attorney, Carl M. Bornstein, Esq., for its First Amended

Verified Complaint, upon information and belief, hereby allege and

state:
NATURE OF ACTION
y 2P Plaintiff MACHNE MENACHEM, INC., (hereinafter the

WCAMP") is a New York Not-for-Profit Corporation which operates a
summer camp located in the Poconc mountains of Pennsylvania. The
CAMP primarily serves the youth of the Lubavitcher Community of
Crown Heights in Brooklyn, New York.

2. Defendants are members, relatives and associates, of the
HERSHKOP FAMILY, a lawless Crown Heights "clan', which brazenly
refers to itself as the "Hershkop Mafia" and the "Cosa Nostra."

z This action arises out of the HERSHKOP FAMILY's campaign

rao take control of the CAMP for the benefit of its members and



those persons associated with them, through vioclence, extortion,
theft, and fraud.

a. Members of the HERSHKOP FAMILY have repeatedly
threatened that unless they gain control of the Camp they will
destroy it and have attempted to do both.

b. These members of the HERSHKOP FAMILY have made
reference to the biblical image of Samson pulling down the pillars
of the palace with his last ounce of strength thereby connoting
one’'s resolve to destroy one’s rivals even if it entails self-
destruction as well.

- Here too, the HERSHKOP FAMILY, has promised to do
whatever it can to destroy the CAMP if it cannot gain control of
it. In the words of MEIR HERSHKOP, "nobody wins against the
Hershkop Mafia."

d. To implement these threats, the HERSHEKOF FAMILY has
attempted, through a pattern of unlawful conduct including acts of
violence, extortion, assault, fraud and intimidation to wrest
control of the CAMP from the legitimate CAMP leadership and the
Crown Heights Community.

e. In order to promote the HERSHKOP FAMILY and the
activities of its members and associates and to preserve and
protect the HERSHKOP FAMILY from legal actions seeking to curtail
rhe unlawful conduct of its members an associates, those members
and associates have repeatedly attempted to intimidate persons who
have become witnesses in legal proceedings against members and

agssociates of HERSHKOP FAMILY by threats and harassment.



4. Accordingly, the CAMP brings this action for violations
of the Racketeering Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, the
"RICO" statute, Title 18, United States Code, 581561 gL s5eq.;
tortious interference with contractual relations, breach of
conversion, unfair competition, and breach of fiduciary duty under
the pendente lite doctrine.

s Plaintiff SPRITZER, in response to the counterclaim
alleged by the defendants, also brings this action for damages he
has sustained as a result of assaults committed upon him by the
defendants and as a result of the intentional damage done to his
property by the defendants.

6. Plaintiffs seek to enjoin the defendants from engaging
in further acts of violence or property destruction against the
CAMP, its directors or employees, or from interfering with the
CAMP’s operation, finances or administration.

7 In addition, the Camp seeks compensatory damages,
trebled, punitive damages, and reascnable attorney’s fees and

costs for prosecuting this action.

JURISDICTION

8. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Title 18, United
States Code, §1964(a) and principles of pendente lite

jurisdiction.

PARTIES
9. plaintiff MACHNE MENACHEM, INC. is a not-for profitc

corporation which was organized under the laws of New York State.



10. Plaintiff Yaakov SPRITZER is a resident of the Crown
Heights Community and formerly served as Executive Director of the
Crown Heights Jewish Community Council and as an elected member of
its Board of Directors. He is a current member of the CAMP's
Board of Directors.

11. Defendants MENDEL HERSHKOP and MEIR HERSHKOP are
brothers and are the leaders of the HERSHKOP FAMILY.

12. Defendants AARON "LELLI" HERSHKOP and SCHNEUR "GADI"
HERSHKOP are the adult sons of defendant MEIR HERSHEOP.

13. Defendant LEVI HARTMAN is the son-in-law of defendant
MEIE HERSHEKOP.

14. Defendants SHMUEL HEBER and YOSEF GOLDMAN are associates

of the HERSHEOQOP FAMILY.

FACTUAL BACEKEGROUND

15, The CAMP was founded in 1995, prior to the Summer
thereof, as a charitable institution of the Crown Heights
Lubavitcher Community. Located in the Pocono Mountains of
Pennsylvania, the CAMP serves primarily the children of the Crown
Heights Jewish community, including needy children. As with all
Crown Heights Jewish Community institutions, the CAMP is under the
jurisdiction of the Beth Din Tzedek of Crown Heights ("Rabbinical
Court") .

16. Plaintiff SPRITZER was the founder and a principal

financial contributor to the CAMP and an original member of the

Board of Directors of the CAMP.



17. Defendants MENDEL HERSHKOP, SHMUEL HEBER and YOSEF
GOLDMAN were also original members of the Board of Directors of
the CAMP.

18. Defendant members of the HERSHKOP FAMILY viewed the CAMP
as an opportunity to make personal financial gain and profit by
placing members of the HERSHKOP FAMILY in a number of key CAMP
positions, all with substantial salaries, and to take substantial
commissions or percentages from the charitable donations made by
contributors to sustain the CAMP.

19. Defendant LEVI HARTMAN, son-in-law of defendant MEIR
HERSHKOP, was hired as administrator of the CAMP for the 1996
Summer season but he quit before the CAMP opened for the 1596
Summer Season.

20. After the 1995 Summer season, defendant SHMUEL HEBER
resigned from the Board of Directors after he was asked to make a
financial contribution to the CAMP. Subsequently, defendant YOSEF
GOLDMAN, who was the Director of Registration, was removed from
the Board of Directors for taking approximately $12,000 from the
CAMP’'s receipts without authorization. His removal by the CAMP's
Board of Directors was upheld by the Rabbinical Court in June,
1996.

21. Prior to the 1996 Summer season, Meir Schreiber, a
member of the Crown Heights Community, and currently a substantial
financial contributor te the CAMP, joined the CAMPS’'s Board of
Directors along with Yosef Spalter. Defendant MEIR HERSHKOP also

joined the Board at this time. In a short time, two factions of



the Board developed: one was comprised of the defendants MENDEL
HERSHKOP and MEIR HERSHKOP and the other was comprised of the
pPlaintiff SPRITZER, Meir Schreiber and Yosef Spalter.

22. Realizing that they were now a minority on the Board of
Directors of the CAMP and that their plans to operate the CAMP for
their own profit were in danger, the defendants began a campaign
to drive the other directors out of office.

23. Just before the 1996 summer season of the CAMP began,
MENDEL HERSHKOP and MEIR HERSHKOP entered the CAMP's Brooklyn
office and, without authorization from the CAMPS's Board of
Directors, collected funds from the parents or guardians of
prospective campers.

24. In or about June, 1996, members of the HERSHKOP FAMILY,
without authorization from the CAMP's Board of Directors, secretly
opened a second account in the name of the CAMP, and deposited the
CAMPE’s checks that.they had taken thereby diverting those funds
From the CAMP. The HERSHKOP FAMIly then converted that money to
the benefit of its members.

55. On the first day of the CAMP's operation for the 1936
season, as the CAMP's Dbuses Wwere leaving Brooklyn for
Pennsylvania, MENDEL HERSHKOP said to Meir Schreiber: "This 1is
only the beginning."

6. When the campers arrived at the CRAMP’S grounds in
pennsylvania that same day, members of the HERSHKOP FAMILY

members, including MENDEL HERSHKOP, MEIR HERSHKOP, AARON










































































































































